

Fire Tests of Steel Columns Encased With Gypsum Lath and Plaster



United States Department of Commerce National Bureau of Standards Building Materials and Structures Report 135

BUILDING MATERIALS AND STRUCTURES REPORTS

On request, the Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, Washington 25, D. C., will place your name on a special mailing list to receive notices of new reports in this series as soon as they are issued. There will be no charge for receiving such notices.

If 100 copies or more of any report are ordered at one time, a discount of 25 percent is allowed. Send all orders and remittances to the Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, Washington 25, D. C.

The following publications in this series are available by purchase from the Superintendent of Documents at the prices indicated:

BMS2	Methods of Determining the Structural Properties of Low-Cost House Constructions.	10¢
BMS3	Suitability of Fiber Insulating Lath as a Plaster Base	15¢
BMS4	Accelerated Aging of Fiber Building Boards	10¢
BMS5	Structural Properties of Six Masonry Wall Constructions	20¢
BMS6	Survey of Roofing Materials in the Southeastern States	15¢
BMS8	Methods of Investigation of Surface Treatment for Corrosion Protection of Steel	15¢
BMS9	Structural Properties of the Insulated Steel Construction Co.'s "Frameless-Steel" Con-	
2011200	structions for Walls Partitions Floors and Boofs	104
BMS10	Structural Properties of One of the "Kaystone Beam Steel Floor" Constructions	100
DIMIDIO	Sponsored by the H H Bobertson Co	104
RMS11	Structural Properties of the Curren Fabrihome Corporation's "Fabrihome" Construct	TOP
DMDII	tions for Walls and Devitions	104
DMC19	Structural Properties of "Statement of Structural Providence for Walls Partitions Floors and	106
DWDIZ	Poor Structural in Open list of Steel o	154
DMS14	Independent of a provide of buildings, Inc.	100
DMOIT	Indentation and Recovery of Low-Cost Floor Coverings	TOC
BMBID	Structural Properties of Wheeling Long-Span Steel Floor Construction Sponsored by	104
DITCHO	the wheeling Corrugating Co	10¢
BW210	Structural Properties of a "Theorete" Floor Construction Sponsored by Theorete	- 01
DICCO	Floors, Inc	10¢
BMS17	Sound Insulation of Wall and Floor Constructions	20¢
Supplement	at to BMS17, Sound Insulation of Wall and Floor Constructions	_5¢
Supplement	at No. 2 to BMS17, Sound Insulation of Wall and Floor Constructions	15¢
BMS18	Structural Properties of "Pre-fab" Constructions for Walls, Partitions, and Floors	Ľ.,
-	Sponsored by the Harnischfeger Corporation	10¢
BMS20	Structural Properties of "Twachtman" Constructions for Walls and Floors Sponsored	
	by Connecticut Pre-Cast Buildings Corporation	10¢
BMS21	Structural Properties of a Concrete-Block Cavity-Wall Construction Sponsored by the	
	National Concrete Masonry Association	10¢
BMS23	Structural Properties of a Brick Cavity-Wall Construction Sponsored by the Brick	
	Manufacturers Association of New York, Inc.	10¢
BMS24	Structural Properties of a Reinforced-Brick Wall Construction and a Brick-Tile Cavity-	
	Wall Construction Sponsored by the Structural Clay Products Institute	15¢
BMS25	Structural Properties of Conventional Wood-Frame Constructions for Walls, Parti-	
	tions, Floors, and Roofs	20¢
BMS26	Structural Properties of "Nelson Pre-Cast Concrete Foundation" Wall Construction	
	Sponsored by the Nelson Cement Stone Co., Inc.	10¢
BMS27	Structural Properties of "Bender Steel Home" Wall Construction Sponsored by the	
	Bender Body Co	10ć
BMS28	Backflow Prevention in Over-Rim Water Supplies	156
BMS29	Survey of Boofing Materials in the Northeastern States	206
BMS30	Structural Properties of a Wood-Frame Wall Construction Sponsored by the Douglas	-00
19111000	Fir Plywood Association	156
BMS32	Structural Properties of Two Brick-Concrete-Block Wall Constructions and a Con-	200
	crete-Block Wall Construction Sponsored by the National Congrete Masonry	
	Association	154
BMS34	Performance Test of Floor Coverings for Use in Low-Cost Housing: Part 1	154
THING'I	a circulture rest of Floor Overnigs for Ose in how ouse mousing. Tall finance	TOP

[List continued on cover page III]

Fire Tests of Steel Columns

Encased With Gypsum Lath and Plaster

Nolan D. Mitchell and James V. Ryan



Building Materials and Structures Report 135

Issued April 3, 1953

For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, Washington 25, D. C. Price 15 cents

Foreword

This report, one of a series issued by the National Bureau of Standards on building materials and structures, presents the results of fire tests of steel building columns protected by gypsum lath and gypsum plaster, the latter incorporating three different aggregates. Such materials are generally available and are in common use in standard building practice.

The fire-endurance limits of protected columns described in this report may serve as a guide for the selection of constructions to meet building-code requirements and as a measure of the extent of compliance of building practice with existing codes.

A. V. ASTIN, Director.

Contents

		Page
	Foreword	II
1.	Introduction	1
2.	Materials	1
	2.1. Steel columns	1
	2.2. Laths	1
	2.3. Lathing accessories	2
	2.4. Plaster	2
	2.5. Aggregates	2
3.	Construction details	3
	3.1. Thermocouple mounting	3
	3.2. Column end protection	3
	3.3. Assembly of plaster bases	3
	3.4. Plastering	4
	3.5. Aging	4
4.	Test method and equipment	4
	4.1. Specifications and end-point criteria	4
	4.2. Column-testing furnace	7
	4.3. Temperatures	8
	4.4. Deformations	8
5.	Results of tests	8
6.	Discussion	12
	6.1. Variations among test specimens	12
	6.2. Plaster bases	12
	6.3. Plasters	13
	6.4. Plaster aggregates	13
	6.5. Plaster thicknesses	13
	6.6. Plaster reinforcement	13
	6.7. Size of column	14
	6.8. Workmanship	14
	6.9. Effectiveness of combined and free water	14
7.	References	14

Fire Tests of Steel Columns Encased With Gypsum Lath and Plaster

Nolan D. Mitchell and James V. Ryan

The results presented are those derived from fire-endurance tests of 16 steel columns encased with gypsum lath and gypsum plasters. The laths were wired into place; those on eight columns were of the %-in. thick perforated type in a single layer, those on seven of the other eight columns were of two layers of the 1/2-in. thick plain type, and on the other a single layer. Six of the latter eight also had a layer of wire fabric to reinforce the plaster. Expanded perlite was used as the plaster aggregate for 13 columns, sand for two, and vermiculite for one. The thickness of the plasters ranged from $\frac{1}{2}$ in. to 2 in. and those of the encasements from $\frac{7}{8}$ in. to $\frac{21}{2}$ in.

The fire-resistance values indicated by the tests varied with the composition, reinforcement, and thickness of the protective coverings, and to some degree with the size of the column. The fire-endurance limits, as determined from the tests, ranged from 1 hr 23 min for a 10-in, steel H-section column protected with $\frac{3}{2}$ -in, perforated lath and $\frac{1}{2}$ in, of sanded gypsum plaster to 4 hr 42 min for one protected with two layers of ½-in, lath, and a 1%-in, thickness of perlite-gypsum plaster reinforced with wire fabric.

1. Introduction

The fire resistance of columns is considered of prime importance in buildings. Building regulations usually require fire-resistive columns, whether they support roof or floors. Columns are also frequently used in conjunction with partitions or walls in the subdivision of large buildings into fire areas. The number of these areas is determined by the required fire resistance which, in turn, is governed by the type of construction and the amount of combustible material involved in the occupancy of the building. The fire-resistance ratings of columns or other building members are based upon the results of standard fire tests on representative constructions.

Inasmuch as gypsum laths and lightweight plasters are extensively used as protective coverings for steel structures, a series of fire tests of columns so protected was undertaken as a part of the program of research on building materials and structures at the National Bureau of Standards. Sixteen steel H-section columns encased with various combinations of gypsum laths and plasters comprised this series. Two of the 16 columns were subjected to fire tests while under load.

2. Materials

The materials used in the test columns were of commercial quality typical of those normally used in building construction.

2.1. Steel Columns

The steel columns were fabricated to the designs shown in figure 1. Those to be subjected to test without load are shown as A, and those for test under load as designs B and C. They were fabricated under contract by a local plant and the workmanship was of good quality.

2.2. Laths

The thicknesses and breaking loads for the three brands of long length 1/2-in. laths and five brands of 16- by 48- by ³/₈-in. perforated gypsum laths received, as well as the ASTM specification requirements for these characteristics, are given in table 1. Two or more brands of laths were used as the plaster bases on each of 13 of the columns, for the other three columns, 273, 294, and 314, a separate brand was applied on each.

TABLE 1. Characteristics of gypsum laths

	Г	hickness	Load on bearing edge ¹						
Lot ²	Nomi- nal	Jomi- nal Measured	Aeros	s fiber	Parallel to fiber				
			Aver- age	Mini- mum	A ver- age	Mini- mum			
$egin{array}{c} \mathbf{A}_1 \ \mathbf{A}_2 \ \mathbf{A}_3 \end{array}$	in. 1/2 1/2 1/2 1/2	<i>in</i> . 0. 532 . 495 . 500	$lb \\ 162 \\ 162 \\ 155$	$lb \\ 161 \\ 148 \\ 154$	1b 47 57 43	<i>lb</i> 47 52 42			
$egin{array}{c} {f B}_1 \ {f B}_2 \end{array}$	$\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$. 484 . 475	$\begin{array}{c} 148 \\ 142 \end{array}$	$142 \\ 129$	43 40	$\frac{42}{37}$			
С	$\frac{1}{2}$. 507	122	117	42	39			
$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{D}_1 \\ \mathbf{D}_2 \\ \mathbf{D}_3 \end{array}$	3/8 3/8 3/8	. 360 . 380	$ \begin{array}{c} 78 \\ 74 \\ 69 \end{array} $	$75 \\ 71 \\ 64$	22 37 21	22 35			
${f E_1} {{f E_2} \over {f E_3}}$	3/8 3/8 3/8	. 359 . 362	78 71 71	$75 \\ 68 \\ 61$	$24 \\ 20 \\ 19$	$ \begin{array}{c} 22 \\ 18 \\ 18 \end{array} $			
$\mathop{\mathrm{F}_1}_{\mathrm{F}_2}$	3/8 3/8	. 357	81 80	$\frac{80}{77}$	$\frac{24}{25}$	$\frac{22}{24}$			
G	3/8	. 390	85	82	³ 22	21			
н	3/8	. 376	66	62	(4)				
S5 S5	1/2 3/8	$.500 \pm 0.031$ $.375 \pm 0.031$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \\ 60 \end{array}$	160 60	$\frac{40}{27}$	$\frac{40}{27}$			

³ The results of strength tests of two of the five specimens of lot G, as tested parallel to the fiber, were discarded because they differed by more than 15 percent from the average, as required by the test method. ⁴ There were no specimens of the sample from lot H available for the test for strength with load applied parallel to the fiber. ⁵ Specification requirements of ASTM Designation: C37-50.

¹ The samples were tested under the methods specified in ASTM Designation: C37-50, except that in some cases the supply of lath was insufficient to provide the five specimens required. ² Lots A, B, and C were ½-in. unperforated laths, all others were of the ½-in, perforated type. All lots having the same letter designation were from the same manufacturer.



FIGURE 1. Details of steel test columns.

2.3. Lathing Accessories

The lathing accessories used included: woven wire fabric, tie wire, expanded metal angles (cornerite), corner beads, and staples.

The plaster encasements of six columns had 1-in. hexagonal mesh, 20-gage (0.036-in. diameter), galvanized wire fabric weighing 0.6 lb/yd² as reinforcement. The galvanized tie wire used by the lathers was standard 18-gage, 0.042-in. diameter.

The expanded metal angles were a commercial product known as cornerite, fabricated from 6 in. wide strips of 2.5-lb/yd² expanded metal lath bent 90 degrees along the centerline. The corner beads were a solid nose type made from 26-gage galvanized steel with $2\frac{1}{2}$ -in. wide expanded metal flanges. They weighed 190 lb/1,000 lin ft.

2.4. Plaster

Several lots of each of two brands of fibered gypsum plaster were used. Each lot complied with the requirements of Federal Specification SS-P-402 for fibered neat gypsum plaster. The physical and chemical properties of these two plasters, as determined by the methods prescribed in the specification and compressive strengths of 2-in. cubes prepared in the laboratory, are given in table 2.

2.5. Aggregates

The three types of aggregates used, sand, perlite, and vermiculite as shoveled into a 1-ft³ measure, weighed, respectively, 100, 8.6, and 7.3 lb/ft³. Typical sieve analyses of the three are given in table 3.



HERMOCOUPLE NUMBERS AND LOCATIONS FOR FEST COLUMNS NOT SUBJECTED TO LOAD THERMOCOUPLE NUMBERS AND LOCATIONS FOR TEST COLUMN NO. 279. WELDED TEST COLUMN NO. 280 HAD SAME THERMOCOUPLE ARRANGEMENT

FIGURE 2. Locations of thermoeouples on columns.

3. Construction Details

3.1. Thermocouple Mounting

Thermocouples were mounted on the flanges and webs of the steel columns at each of four levels, four at each level on those tested without load, and seven at each level on those tested under load, as shown in figure 2. The thermocouple wires were laid along the column web, thence through a 1-in. pipe at the top to the instrument indicating temperatures.

3.2. Column End Protection

The columns for test without load were provided with steel plates to restrain the protective coverings of the column shafts from longitudinal expansions greater than that of the steel column, as required by the standard method of test. These plates were, in turn, protected from the furnace fires by 5-in. thicknesses of pumice concrete. The ends of the columns subjected to load were not subjected to intense heat and therefore did not require such protection.

3.3. Assembly of Plaster Bases

The $\frac{3}{8}$ -in. laths, cut to width from 16- by 48-in. pieces, were bound to the column shafts by four ties of doubled wires to each 4 ft of column length, as shown in figures 3 and 4. The $\frac{1}{2}$ -in. laths, cut to width and length from 24- by 120-in. pieces, were applied to seven of the column shafts in two



FIGURE 3. Columns in various stages of lathing and application of corner bead.



FIGURE 4. Column top showing perforated lath, ties, corner bead with metal lath extensions, and cornerite at junction between lath and cap.

TABLE 2. Characteristics of gypsum plasters

Characteria	Lot											
C nemical analysis	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
CaSO ₄ ·½ H ₂ O (computed from loss at 220° C)	83.1	80.1	83.8	87.2	84. 2	93. 0	93. 6	94. 7	88. 2	94. 7	94. 9	91.7
acetate insoluble) CaSO ₄ $\frac{1}{2}$ H ₂ O (computed from	86.8	89.8	83.9	83. 2	81.8	92.7	93. 7	94.3	92.8	93. 3	94.6	89.3
$CaSO_4 \cdot \frac{1}{2} H_2O$ (average)	85. 7 85. 2	88. 0 86. 1	83.8	84. 5 85. 0	79.8 81.9	92.4 92.7	93.6	94. 5	93. 1 91. 3	93. 3 93. 8	93. 6 94. 4	89.6 90.2
Physical tests												
Consistency for time of set_ml/100 g Time of set hr Consistency for strengthml/100 g Tensile strength h/in, 2 Compressive strength h/in, 2	$17 \\ 8 \\ 1823 \\ 200 \\ 1,080$	$16 \\ 12 \\ 18 \\ 230 \\ 1, 320$	> 8, < 16 22 $^2 175$ 980	>9,<1823 >9,<16 2113 185 1,070	$16\frac{13}{23}$ 18 220 1, 170	$16 \\ 19 \\ 18 \\ 230 \\ 1, 310$	$1973 \\ 5 \\ 22 \\ 215 \\ 1, 340$	$> 8, < 1534 \\ 2012 \\ 230 \\ 1, 410$	$19 \\ 7 \\ 211/3 \\ 250 \\ 1, 320$	$> 9, < 16 \\ 2013 \\ 255 \\ 1, 450$	$3\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{2}{2}260$ 1,600	$> 9, < 16 \\ 2023 \\ 220 \\ 1, 210$

¹ Average of 6, except as noted.

TABLE 3. Sieve analysis of aggregates

Sieve desig-	Sieve analyses—percentage passing						
nation	Sand	Perlite	Vermieulite				
$egin{array}{c} 4 & 6 \\ 8 & 12 \\ 14 & 20 \\ 28 & 30 \end{array}$	100 99 93 72	 100 	98 69 30				
	3	$\begin{array}{c} 21\\ 12\\ 5\end{array}$	3				

thicknesses, and to one in one thickness, and bound with doubled wires spaced about 23 in. on centers.

The wire-fabric reinforcement for the plaster was wrapped horizontally outside of the gypsum lath as applied to five of the columns and outside the scratch coat of plaster as applied on a sixth column, test 277. The longitudinal edges of the fabric were fastened together with wire ties. Details of the assembly of plaster bases and plaster are shown in figure 5.

All the columns were provided with corner beads set as grounds to give the required thickness of plaster. With one exception, the corner beads were fastened directly to the gypsum lath or to strips of expanded metal lath if the flanges of the corner bead were not wide enough to fasten to the lath. At least $\frac{1}{4}$ -in, clearance was provided at each end of the corner beads to allow for expansion. In addition to staples or nails fastening the corner beads or extension strips to the gypsum lath, wire ties threaded through the flanges of the corner beads and surrounding the column secured the four corner beads at seven levels on each assembly. See details in figure 4.

In attempting to prevent the development of openings between the protective coverings and the caps of the columns, such as had occurred during previous tests due to shrinkage of the gypsum during calcination, 3- by 2-in. angles of ex-

² Average of 5.

panded metal lath were stapled to the gypsum lath and attached by nails through the outstanding leg to caps of columns 294, 302, and 308.

3.4. Plastering

The basic plaster of 1 in. or less thickness was applied in a single rendering by the double-back method. That of greater thickness was applied as two distinct renderings with sufficient time between for the first or scratch coat to set thoroughly, before the second or brown coat was applied. A white-coat finish about $\frac{1}{16}$ -in. thick was applied to each column to bring the surfaces even with the corner beads.

The proportions of the plaster mixes, the number of coats applied, the total thicknesses and the strengths of 2-in. cubes made from the various batches of the plasters as they were ready for application to the individual columns are given in table 4.

3.5. Aging

To condition the specimens for test, the plastered columns were allowed to stand for periods of 26 to 67 days in a large, well-ventilated room heated from 70° to 85° F. Each specimen was weighed periodically until the rate of loss of weight resulting from the drying of the plaster became less than 1 lb a day. The 2-in. cubes prepared during the application of the plaster were conditioned by placing them at the bases of the columns and were tested on the same day as the column.

4. Test Method and Equipment

4.1. Specifications and End-Point Criteria

The tests were conducted in accordance with the Standard Methods of Fire Tests of Building Construction and Materials of the American Society for Testing Materials, ASTM Designation : E119-47. Summary of construction details and test results TABLE 4.

'est results	ire- dur- nite	min 23 30 50 39	33888 3388 367 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37	$^{+}_{-}$	13
	Eig Fr	244000	مى بار ھەر بەر دە	0100 0101	on 1
	Inten- sity of fire expo-	Percem 92.3 97.9 97.5 97.5 100.3	100.8 100.1 100.5 100.0 100.2	99.8 100.6 100.0 100.2 100.2	100.6
	End- point time	tr min 1 30 1 32 2 16 3 356 3 38	$\begin{array}{c} 4 \\ 4 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 3 \\ 3 \\ 3 \\ 3 \\ 3 \\ 3 \\ 3$	$\begin{smallmatrix} 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 4 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 3 \\ 2 $	3 42
	nt	/			
	id-poi riteric	0000 7 7 7 7 00 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 00	00° F 10° F 00° F	00000 7777 7777 7777	0° F.
	Er .	1,000	1,000 1,000 1,000	1,000	1,00
	Age at test	Days 26 35 31 37	144 144 152 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 14	39 52 67	. 60
Total protec-	tive thick- ness, lath and	in. 1,7,8 1,7,8 2,7,9 2,7,9	9 12 57 5 8 8 8 9 7 5 8 8 9 7 5 8 8 9 7 5 8 9 7 7 8 9 7	$2368 \\ $	218
	Thick- ness all coats	in. 1112		1112 2112 2112 2122 2122 2122 2122 212	134
	Num- her of basic coats 2		ଷ୍ୟର୍ବ୍ୟୁ	00000	64
	gth Brown	$\begin{array}{c} lb/in.^{2}\\ 740\\ 740\\ 740\\ 600\\ 600\\ 180\end{array}$	400 330 890 890 890	730 730 390 800	690
laster	Stren Scratch	2520	$ \begin{array}{c} 340 \\ 560' \\ 560' \\ 1, 080 \\ 1, 030 \end{array} $	$1, 370 \\ 1, 370 \\ 630 \\ 730 \\ 1, 330 \\ 1, 330 \\ 1, 230 \\ 1, 230 \\ 1, 230 \\ 1, 330 $	1, 280
	Mix 1	- AAWWW	00000	00000	C
	Aggregate	Sand do Perlite do	do do do do do do	dodo Vermiculite Perlitedo	do
Mrc	fabric fabric force- ment	No No Ycs Ycs	Yes Yes No No	No on No	No
	Num- ber of layers		000000	-001	1
	Thick- ness	in. 1.1.2.3.3.3.3.3.3.3.3.3.3.3.3.3.3.3.3.3.	21212120 PI	100 (1 (2) (00 (20) 100 (1 (2) (00) (20)	,88 60'.
sum lati	Length	ft in. 8 4 4 0 8 1 1 8 1	$\begin{smallmatrix} & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & $	4 % % 4 4 0 1 1 0 0	4 0
Gyr	'Type	Perforated	do do Perforated, Plain	Perforated Plain Perforated	do
u	Load	lb None None None None None	None 80, 500 228, 300 None None	None None None None None	None
tcel colum	Section	10WF49 10WF49 10WF49 10WF49 10WF49 10WF49	$\begin{array}{c} 10WF49\\ 6H20\\ 10WF49\\ 10WF49\\ 10WF49\\ 10WF49\end{array}$	10WF49 10WF49 10WF49 10WF49 10WF49	10WF49
ŝ	Ex- posed length	£ i'n. ∞∞∞∞∞11. ∞∞∞∞11.	10 10 8 10 8 10 8 10 8	x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x	8 1
	Test number	273 274 275 276 277	278 279 288 289	292 293 302 308	314
					- Contraction of the local division of the l

A MAY, BAT, BATOR Bystant Databaset to 27 puts to aggregate related by weight applied wouldnet unchange. Address and a start of gypstant plaster to 2 fts of aggregate. Brown cost of 1/3 ft s of gypstant plaster to 3 fts of aggregate. The start of a start of gypstant plaster to 3 fts of aggregate. The start of a start of gypstant plaster to 2 fts of aggregate. The start of gypstant plaster to 3 fts of aggregate. The start of gypstant plaster to 3 fts of aggregate. The start of gypstant plaster to 3 fts of aggregate. The start of gypstant plaster to 3 fts of gypstant plaster by volume. If the start of gypstant plaster to 1,000° F at one lovel was observed at the same time that failure under load occurred.

9









TEST NO. 275 $2\frac{1}{2}$ CU.F.T. PERLITE TO I BAG GYPSUM DOU-BLED BACK ON PERFORATED GYPSUM LATH TIED TO COLUMN WITH DOUBLED IBGA, WIRE 15"O.C.



 $2\frac{1}{2}$ CU. FT. PERLITE TO I BAG GYPSUM FOR SCRATCH AND BROWN COATS ON GYPSUM LATH TIED TO COLUMN WITH DOUBLED IB GA WIRE 23" O.C. WRAPPED WITH 1" HEX MESH 20 GA GALV. WIRE FABRIC OVER SCRATCH COAT.





TEST NO. 274 1.2 $\frac{1}{2}$ SANDED GYPSUM PLASTER DOUBLED BACK ON PERFORATED GYPSUM LATH TIED TO

COLUMN WITH DOUBLED IB GA. WIRE 15" O.C.



TEST NO. 276

 $2\frac{1}{2}$ CU.FT PERLITE TO I BAG GYPSUM DOUBLED BACK ON 2 LAYERS OF GYPSUM LATH TIED TO COLUMN WITH DOUBLED IB GA. WIRE 23" O.C. AND WRAPPED WITH I" HEX MESH 20 GA.GALV. WIRE FABRIC.





2 CUFT. PERLITE TO IBAG GYPSUM FOR SCR-ATCH AND 3 CUFT. PERLITE TO IBAG GYPSUM FOR BROWN COAT ON 2 LAYERS OF GYPSUM LATH TIED TO COLUMN WITH DOUBLED IBGA WIRE 23" OC. AND WRAPPED WITH I"HEX MESH 20 GA. GALV. WIRE FABRIC. TEST 294 USED VERMICULITE.

FIGURE 5. Cross sections of protective coverings for test columns.



FIGURE 5. Cross sections of protective coverings for test columns-Continued

These methods require that the columns be exposed on all sides to furnace fires controlled to have average temperatures of approximately 1,000° F at 5 min; 1,300° F at 10 min; 1,550° F at 30 min; 1,700° F at 1 hr; 1,850° F at 2 hr; 2,000° F at 4 hr; 2,300° F at 8 hr or over.

Fourteen of the columns were tested without load, in which the conditions of acceptance require that the average temperature of the steel at any one of the four levels shall not exceed 1,000° F (538° C), and that at any one measured point shall not exceed 1,200° F (649° C), during the period for which classification is desired. The fire-exposed length of the column is specified to be at least 8 ft. The other two columns were tested under load, a method which requires that the exposed length be not less than 9 ft and that the column sustain the applied load during the fire-endurance test for a period equal to that for which classification is desired.

4.2. Column-Testing Furnace

The tests were made in a gas-fired furnace which was equipped with a hydraulic jack for applying loads, as shown in figure 6. The hydraulic pressure was controlled by a motor-driven rotary pump and a spring-loaded pressure-regulating valve, thus raising or lowering the movable furnace floor, which rested on a spherical bearing block on top of the jack. The fluid pressures used were determined by the loads required to be imposed on the columns.

To accommodate the 10-ft 4-in. effective length of the loaded column, a brick chamber was built above the furnace roof slab. A framework of steel beams provided a fixed bearing for the upper end of the column. The bases of the columns and the furnace floor were covered with loose perlite.



FIGURE 6. Column-test furnace.

A column representative of those tested without load is shown as installed in the furnace for test in figure 7.

4.3. Temperatures

Twelve thermocouples were located in the furnace—four suspended from the ceiling and two protruding from each of the four walls. The thermocouples were provided with porcelain insulators and enclosed in iron tubes with the junctions about 24 in. from the test column. The pyrometer arrangements were completed by connecting the thermocouples to an indicating potentiometer. The furnace temperatures were recorded at 5-min intervals during the first 2 hr of the tests and at 10-min intervals thereafter.

The temperatures at selected locations in the column shafts were determined at regular intervals throughout the test by means of thermocouples, previously described, and a potentiometer.

4.4. Deformations

Movement of the piston of the hydraulic jack as observed on a dial indicator was taken as a measure of the longitudinal deformation of the column under load. Measurements made during previ-



FIGURE 7. Representative nonloaded column in furnace before test.

ous tests indicated that the thermal expansion of the vertical framework was closely compensated by the expansion of the unexposed section of the column and the thermal deflections of the overhead beams supporting the upper bearing plate. No measurements of lateral deflections of the columns were made during or after test.

5. Results of Tests

Table 4 summarizes the characteristics of the test specimens and results of the tests.

A general pattern of behavior was observed in all the tests. A network of fine craze cracks covering the plaster surface and thin cracks parallel to and about 1 or 2 in. away from the corner beads developed early in the tests. The latter extended over the full exposed length of the protective covering and by midtest had grown to widths ranging from 1/8 to 1/2 in., with evidence of curling of the whitecoat finish along the edges of the plaster. Usually, too, by midtest shrinkage of the column covering caused it to begin separating from the column cap, thus creating an opening all around the column. In comparison with the other cracks, these openings widened more rapidly during the rest of the test and are considered to have contributed to hastening the failure of the coverings protecting the steel. The widths of these openings at the times the column-shaft temperatures reached the allowable limits were esti-

FIGURE 8. Representative column without cornerite at top, after test.

mated to range from 1/2 to 2 in., not excepting those columns having cornerite and plaster intended to cover the opening. See figures 8 and 9. Because of the narrowness of these openings and their position on the column, they were probably a minor factor in the failure of the columns tested under load. Shrinkage of the type mentioned above is characteristic of gypsum exposed to fire [1, 2, 3, 4].¹ Graphs of the furnace and column temperatures observed in a representative selection of tests are given in figures 10, 11, 12, and 13.

In no test did any significant amount of plaster covering fall before the limit of temperature had

FIGURE 9. Representative column with cornerite at top, after test.

Other than the cornerite, the construction of the column was the same as that of the column shown in figure S. Fire ex-postures were of the same length.

been reached, notwithstanding the large cracks parallel to the corner and the bulging of the plaster and plaster bases, as shown in figure 14. In three instances, however, soon after the permissible temperature limit of the steel had been reached, the coverings fell, exposing a large part of the steel column shaft to the fire, as shown in figure 15 [2, 4].

In test 280, because of undue heating of oil in the hydraulic system, difficulty was encountered in maintaining the load. Consequently, the load was reduced to about half value when the average temperature of the steel was 212° F (100° C).





¹Numbers in brackets indicate literature references at the end of this report.



FIGURE 11. Temperatures observed in column test 278. Perlite gypsum plaster and wire fabric reinforcing.









resulting in the behavior shown in figure 16. The full load was reapplied at 4 hr 27 min when buckling of the column covering indicated the approach of the fire-endurance limit, at which time the temperatures of the steel averaged slightly over 716° F (380° C). Failure under load occurred soon thereafter, at which time the highest temperature at any thermocouple was 1,058° F (570° C).

6. Discussion

6.1. Variations Among Test Specimens

The variations included among the test specimens, which should be considered with respect to



FIGURE 15. One of three columns from which lath and plaster fell after reaching limiting conditions.

their influence on the test results, are those in such items as plaster bases, gypsum-cement plasters, plaster aggregates, plaster thicknesses, plaster reinforcement, size of columns, and workmanship. Evaluation of the effects of certain of these items can be made by comparing the results obtained from specimens differing in one major respect, whereas others can be evaluated only indirectly [5].

6.2. Plaster Bases

Only gypsum laths were used as plaster bases on the columns for the series of tests covered in this report. Those on eight columns were single thicknesses of $\frac{3}{6}$ -in. perforated laths. Those on



FIGURE 16. Deformations of loaded columns with increase of temperature.

The sudden jump in the curve from test 280 resulted when mechanical difficulties made it necessary to reduce the load to about half value. The load was restored to full intensity after the temperature of the steel had risen to 716° F at the hottest section.

seven columns were double thicknesses of the 1/2-in. plain lath, and that on the other column was a single thickness. Two thicknesses of 1/2-in. thick lath were used on the column for test 276 and a single thickness on that for test 277. These columns had protections of the same total thickness, 2 in. The first had a fire-endurance limit of 3 hr 50 min, whereas the limit in test 277 was reached at 3 hr 39 min. This difference is in agreement with previous findings that the gypsum board, on the basis of a given thickness, affords slightly greater resistance to heat penetration than an equal thickness of perlite plaster. From the derived data, no comparison can be made on the relative effectiveness of ³/₈-in. perforated lath and the 1/2-in. plain lath.

6.3. Plasters

The plaster was composed of gypsum-cement plasters, produced by two manufacturers, mixed with selected plaster aggregates. Distinct differences in the hemihydrate content of the plasters produced by these manufacturers did not usually enter into the results, inasmuch as the two plasters were mixed together, bringing the hemihydrate content to about 90 percent in all specimens except that of test 314, in which only plaster from lot 11 (table 2), having a hemihydrate content of 94 percent, was used. It is probable that a part of the 1-hr increase in the protection afforded by the covering of test 314 over that of 308 resulted from the differences in the plasters used. The random manner of cracking of the protective coverings, as influenced by the plasters, may also have played a part in the differences observed among the results.

6.4. Plaster Aggregates

The three aggregates differed slightly in effectiveness as components of fire protective coverings. On the basis of the results obtained from tests 273 and 274 in comparison with tests 288, 292, and 302, it was found by plotting the thickness of covering versus time to failure on log log paper that the plaster made with perlite aggregate and applied on 3/8-in. gypsum lath gave protection of the steel one-fourth longer for a given thickness than did the plaster made with sand aggregate [4]. However, an exception must be noted for the results from test 308, in which the effectiveness of the perlite gypsum mixture approximated that of the sanded plaster, tests 273 and 274, if compared on the basis of a common thickness.

The slight difference in the results obtained with plaster having vermiculite aggregate (test 294) and those obtained with perlite (tests 278 and 280) can possibly be attributed to the quality of workmanship of the column encasement for test 294 rather than to the plaster aggregate. This is discussed later under "workmanship."

6.5. Plaster Thicknesses

The tests were not well adapted to making determinations of the relative effectiveness of the coverings with relation to total thicknesses. The difference in the thickness of the sanded gypsum plaster plus lath (tests 273 and 274) was only $\frac{1}{8}$ in. The coverings appeared to slump as the result of shrinkage due to calcination of the gypsum and to expose the steel before they had served to their full capacity as protections. It is probable that the opening of the relatively large cracks at the top of the protective coverings brought about a more rapid rise in the temperature of the column than would otherwise have been observed. This effect was more noticeable in the tests of columns without wire-fabric reinforcement in the coverings.

6.6. Plaster Reinforcement

The effectiveness of reinforcement for the plaster can be seen by comparing the average of the results obtained in tests 289 and 293 with the average of results obtained in tests 278 and 280. By extrapolating graphically on the basis of the effectiveness of the reinforced plaster, an increase of 54 min, or 24 percent, in time to failure was found from the use of wire-netting reinforcement in $2\frac{1}{2}$ in, thick coverings. Properly designed reinforcement increases the reliability and efficacy of gypsum protective coverings by insuring that they remain in place [2, 4].

If the results of test 302 or 288 are compared with those obtained in test 276, by extrapolating from the 17_8 -in. thickness of 302 to 2 in., the thickness of the covering for test 276, it is found that the increased protection attributable to the reinforcement is 67 min, or 40 percent.

All the reinforcement used in the tests was wrapped around the column. In view of the difference in resistance to compression in the transverse and longitudinal directions of the wire fabric, it is probable that better results could have been obtained with the fabric applied as continuous strips from top to bottom of the column, thus providing less opportunity for the sag of the plaster to open wide cracks at the top cap, such as are illustrated in figures 8 and 9.

6.7. Size of Column

The only opportunity to study the effect of size of column is by comparison of the results obtained in tests of columns under load, namely, 279 and 280. It has been found in fire tests of columns with monolithic protections, that the smaller the rolumn the less resistant a given thickness of covering [2]. In this instance, the 6H20 column with 2½-in. thickness of covering failed 18 min, or 10 percent, sooner than did the 10WF49 column of the same length having the same thickness of protective covering.

6.8. Workmanship

The quality of workmanship found in the plastering of the column for test 294 was somewhat inferior to that in the plastering of the similar column, test 278. At least one of the corner beads of the former had little plaster between the expanded metal flanges, and the earlier failure of this column by 26 min, or 9 percent, in time might be attributable, in large measure, to this apparent defect. Continuous strips of expanded metal lath were attached to the wings of the corner beads for column 308 to extend their width to allow for a 2-in. thickness of plaster. Because of the double thickness of these wings, it is suspected that the expansion of the metal produced wider than usual cracks through the plaster and in consequence the covering afforded less protection than should have been expected. The other test constructions had the spaces between the flanges of the corner beads well filled.

6.9. Effectiveness of Combined and Free Water

A characteristic of hydrated gypsum plaster is the relatively large amount of chemically combined water in the crystallized gypsum. This water can be driven off by heating the plaster. The dehydration process begins at temperatures about that of boiling water. The effectiveness of the process of driving off water in retarding the heating of the columns under test can be seen in figures 10, 11, 12, and 13, wherein it is observed that the temperature of the steel column shafts remained at or near steam temperatures, ranging from about 10 min for the column with 7/8-in. thick gypsum protective covering to 100 min for some of the columns having $2\frac{1}{2}$ -in. thickness of covering. The heat-retarding effect up to this point varied approximately as the square of the thicknesses of the protective coverings. The proportion of the amount of this effect that resulted from chemically combined water to the amount resulting from free water remaining in the plaster and the lath was not determined by the tests. This dehydration characteristic is found in few other building materials to such a large degree as in gypsum.

7. References

- W. A. Hull, A comparison of the heat-insulating properties of some of the materials used in fire-resistive constructions, NBS Tech. Pap. 130 (1919).
 S. H. Ingberg, H. K. Griffin, W. C. Robinson, R. E.
- [2] S. H. Ingberg, H. K. Griffin, W. C. Robinson, R. E. Wilson, Fire tests of building columns, NBS Tech. Pap. 184 (1921).
- [3] W. A. Hull and S. H. Ingberg, Fire resistance of concrete columns, NBS Tech. Pap. 272 (1925).
- [4] Nolan D. Mitchell, Fire tests of columns protected with gypsum, BS J. Research 10, 737 (1933) RP563,
 [5] Fire-resistance classifications of building construc-
- [5] Fire-resistance classifications of building constructions, NBS Building Materials and Structures Report 92 (1942).
- [6] Nolan D. Mitchell, Fire tests of steel columns protected with siliceous aggregate concrete, NBS Building Materials and Structures Report 124 (1951).

WASHINGTON, October 13, 1952.

BUILDING MATERIALS AND STRUCTURES REPORTS

[Continued from cover page 11]

BMS36	Structural Properties of Wood-Frame Wall, Paritition, Floor, and Roof Construc- tions With "Red Stripe" Lath Sponsored by The Weston Paper and Manufac- turing Co.
BMS38	Structural Properties of Two "Dunstone" Wall Constructions Sponsored by the W E Dunn Manufacturing Co
BMS39	Structural Properties of a Wall Construction of "Pfeifer Units" Sponsored by the Wisconsin Units Co
BMS44	Surface Treatment of Steel Prior to Painting
BMS45	Air Infiltration Through Windows15¢
BMS47	Structural Properties of Prefabricated Wood-Frame Constructions for Walls, Par-
BMS48	titions, and Floors Sponsored by American Houses, Inc. 20¢ Structural Properties of "Precision-Built" Frame Wall and Partition Constructions
RMS40	Sponsored by the Homasote Construction 204
BMS50	Stability of Fiber Building Boards as Determined by Accelerated Aging 104
BMS51	Structural Properties of "Tilecrete Type A" Floor Construction Sponsored by the
BMS52	Effect of Ceiling Insulation Upon Summer Comfort.
BMS53	Structural Properties of a Masonry Wall Construction of "Munlock Dry Wall Brick"
	Sponsored by the Munlock Engineering Co
BMS54	Effect of Soot on the Rating of an Oil-Fired Heating Boiler
BMS55	Effects of Wetting and Drying on the Permeability of Masonry Walls OP*
BMS58	Strength of Soft-Soldered Joints in Copper Tubing
BMS00	Bricks Produced in the United States
BMS62	Structural Properties of a Precast Joist Congrete Floor Construction Sponsored by
	the Portland Cement Association15¢
BMS63	Moisture Condensation in Building Walls15¢
BMS65	Methods of Estimating Loads in Plumbing Systems15¢
BMS66	Plumbing Manual 35¢
BMS67	Structural Properties of "Mu-Steel" Prefabricated Sheet-Steel Constructions for Walls,
BMS68	Partitions, Floors, and Roots, Sponsored by Herman A. Mugier
BMS69	Stability of Fiber Sheathing Boards as Determined by Accelerated Aging
BMS70	Asphalt-Prepared Roll Roofings and Shingles20¢
BMS71	Fire Tests of Wood- and Metal-Framed Partitions
BMS72	Structural Properties of "Precision-Built, Jr." Prefabricated Wood-Frame Wall Con-
DMC79	struction Sponsored by the Homasote Co
BMS74	Structural and Heat-Transfer Pronerties of "ILS S Panelbilt" Prefabricated Sheet.
211012	Steel Constructions for Walls, Partitions, and Roofs Sponsored by the Tennessee Coal, Iron & Railroad Co.
BMS75	Survey of Roofing Materials in the North Central States15¢
BMS77	Properties and Performance of Fiber Tile Boards10#
BMS78	Structural, Heat-Transfer, and Water-Permeability Properties of Five Earth-Wall Construction25¢
BMS79	Water-Distributing Systems for Buildings 20¢
BMS80	Performance Test of Floor Coverings for Use in Low-cost Housing: Part 4
DM000	Weter Dermesbilitie of Walter of Manager Units
BMS83	water remeasurity of wais built of Masonry Units - 256 Strength of Sleve Joints in Conner Tubing Mede With Various Lead-Base Solders 154
BMS84	Survey of Booting Materials in the South Central States
BMS86	Structural, Heat-Transfer, and Water-Permeability Properties of "Speedbrik" Wall
	Construction Sponsored by the General Shale Products Corporation15¢
BMS87	A Method for Developing Specifications for Building Construction-Report of Sub-
	committee on Specifications of the Central Housing Committee on Research, Design,
BMS80	Structural Properties of "Precision Built Ir" (Second Construction) Prefebricated
191121900	Wood-Frame Wall Construction Sponsored by the Homasote Co
BMS90	Structural Properties of "PHC" Prefabricated Wood-Frame Construction for Walls,
DMG00	Floors and Roofs Sponsored by the PHC Housing Corporation
DIVID92	PITE-DESISTANCE CLASSIFICATION OF BUILDING CONSTRUCTIONS

*Out of print.

[List continued on cover page IV]

BUILDING MATERIALS AND STRUCTURES REPORTS

[Continued from cover page III]

BMS94	Water Permeability and Weathering Resistance of Stucco-Faced, Gunite-Faced, and	4
BMS05	Tasts of Coment-Water Points and Other Waterproofings for Unit-Mesonry Walls 25	PL
BMS06	Properties of a Porcus Concrete of Cement and Uniform Sized Gravel	4
BMS00	Structural and Hast-Transfer Properties of "Mutiple Box-Cirder Plywood Panels" for	۴
DIVIDUD	Walls Flores and Roofs 15	4
BMS100	Belative Slipperiness of Floor and Deck Surfaces	4
BMS101	Strength and Besistance to Corrosion of Ties for Cavity Walls	ž
BMS102	Painting Steel	4
BMS103	Measurements of Heat Losses From Slab Floors	4
BMS105	Paint Manual With Particular Reference to Federal Specifications \$1.2	5
BMS106	Laboratory Observations of Condensation in Wall Specimens	1
BSM 108	Temperature Distribution in a Test Bungalow With Various Heating Devices 15	P.
BMS109	Strength of Houses: Application of Engineering Principles to Structural Design \$1.5	ñ
BSM110	Paints for Exterior Masonry Walls	é
BMS111	Performance of a Coal-Fired Boiler Converted to Oil	é
BMS112	Properties of Some Lightweight-Aggregate Concretes With and Without an Air-	ľ
	entraining Admixture10	ć
BMS113	Fire Resistance of Structural Clay Tile Partitions	ć
BMS114	Temperature in a Test Bungalow With Some Radiant and Jacketed Space Heaters 25	¢
BMS115	A Study of a Baseboard Convector Heating System in a Test Bungalow 20	¢
BMS116	Preparation and Revision of Building Codes15	¢
BMS117	Fire Resistance of Walls of Lightweight Aggregate Concrete Masonry Units	¢
BMS118	Stack Venting of Plumbing Fixtures15	¢
BMS119	Wet Venting of Plumbing Fixtures 20	¢
BMS120	Fire Resistance of Walls of Gravel-Aggregate Concrete Masonry Units	¢
BMS121	Investigation of Failures of White-Coat Plasters 25	¢
BMS122	Physical Properties of Some Samples of Asbestos-Cement Siding 15	¢
BMS123	Fire Tests of Wood-Framed Walls and Partitions With Asbestos-Cement Facings 15	¢
BMS124	Fire Tests of Steel Columns Protected With Siliceous Aggregate Concrete 15	¢
BMS125	Stone Exposure Test Wall 30	¢
BMS126	The Self-Siphonage of Fixture Traps 20	¢
BMS127	Effect of Aging on the Soundness of Regularly Hydrated Dolomitic Line Putties 15	¢
BMS128	Atmospheric Exposure Tests of Nailed Sheet Metal Building Materials 20	¢
BMS129	Fire Endurance of Shutters for Moving-Stairway Openings.	¢
BMS130	Methods and Equipment for Testing Printed-Enamel Felt-Base Floor Covering 15	¢
DMS131	Fire Lests of Gunite Slabs and Partitions	ç
BMS132	Capacities of Flumbing Stacks in Buildings	ç
DMS133	Live Loads on Floors in Buildings 20	ç
DM0134	The Resistance of Concrete Floors.	ę
DW0135	Fire Lests of Steel Columns Encased with Gypsum Lath and Plaster15	C